

Aboriginal Mental Health: 'What Works Best'

A Discussion Paper

JULY 2001

PREPARED BY: VICKI SMYE AND BILL MUSSELL





TABLE OF CONTENTS

THE WORKING GROUP	
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
CONCERNS	2
RECOMMENDATIONS	5
PREAMBLE	6
PART 1: INTRODUCTION	7
ABORIGINAL MENTAL HEALTH	7
CONTEXTUAL FACTORS	7
THE CENTRAL PROBLEM: WHAT WE KNOW	8
PART 2: WHAT WORKS – COMMUNITY APPROACHES	10
SUICIDE PREVENTION	11
ALCOHOL AND DRUG PROGRAMS	13
NNADP	13
Alkali Lake	13
Healing Centres and Lodges	15
William Charles Band	15
Fishing Lake	16
Nechi Institute and Poundmakers Lodge	17
Anishnawbe Health Centre	18
Vancouver Native Health Society	19
Sal'i'shan Institute	19
ABUSE RESPONSE	21
Hollow Water Community Holistic Circle Healing	

Contents, continued

PART 3: COMMUNITY-BASED FINDINGS	23	
ABORIGINAL MENTAL HEALTH/WELLNESS: THE FOCUS	23	
PRINCIPLES	24	
INTERSECTION WITH B.C.'S MENTAL HEALTH REFORM		
Housing	29	
Assertive Community Treatment	30	
Crisis Response/ Emergency Services	30	
Inpatient/ Outpatient Services	31	
Family Support and Involvement	32	
Consumer Involvement and Initiatives	32	
Psychosocial Rehabilitation and Recovery	33	
PART 4: MEETING THE CHALLENGES	34	
CHALLENGES	34	
RECOMMENDED PRACTICES	36	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	40	

The Working Group

THE ABORIGINAL MENTAL HEALTH 'BEST PRACTICES' WORKING GROUP, B.C.

NAME	AFFILIATION
Lorraine Behn	Mental Health Worker, Fort Nelson
Willie Blackwater	Director/Counsellor, Gitxsan Residential School Healing Committee, Hazleton
Charles Brasfield	Psychiatrist & Psychologist, Chief of Service, Health Psychology Clinic, The University of British Columbia
Tara Banaee	Provincial Coodinator, Aboriginal Health Division, Ministry of Health Services
Mykie Brown	Private Consultant, Vancouver
Nadine Caplette, Former Facilitator	Aboriginal Health Policy, Aboriginal Health Division, Ministry of Health Services
Sarah Davis	Program Coordinator, Residential School Survivor Program, Vancouver Native Health Society, Vancouver
Wayne Fullerton	Adult Mental Health Division, Ministry of Health Services
Eric MacNaughton	Canadian Mental Health Association of B.C., Vancouver
Rosalyn Ing	First Nations Health Careers, First Nations House of Learning, The University of British Columbia
Larry Jorgenson	Social Worker, Social Development, Heiltsuk Tribal Council, Waglisla
Rod McCormick	Director, Native Indian Teacher Education Program and Assistant Professor, Department of Counselling Psychology, The University of British Columbia
Ray McGuire	Inter Tribal Health Authority (ITHA), Nanaimo
Terry Morris	President, CANDO Society & Mental Health Advocate
Bill Mussell, Facilitator	President, Native Mental Health Association of Canada & Manager/Principal Educator, Sal'i'shan Institute, Chilliwack
Perry Omeasoo	Native Liaison Worker, Strathcona Mental Health Team, Vancouver
Ron Peters	Vancouver/ Richmond Health Board
Shaunee Pointe	Executive Director, First Nations Chiefs Health Committee
Cy Sinclair	Nurse/Counsellor, New Life Mission, Kamloops
Vicki Smye, Coordinator	Consultant Staff & Clinical Faculty, Mheccu, Department of Psychiatry, The University of British Columbia
Louise Tatoosh	Mental Health Supervisor, Nuu-chah-nulth Community and Human Services Society, Port Alberni
Collin van Uchelen	Coordinator, Aboriginal Resources Project, Cross-Cultural Psychiatry, The University of British Columbia & Vancouver Native Health Society
Richard Vedan	Associate Professor, School of Social Work & Family Studies, The University of British Columbia
Monara voudii	

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

CONCERNS

ABORIGINAL MENTAL HEALTH: 'WHAT WORKS BEST'

In July 1999, the first meeting of the Aboriginal Mental Health Committee was held at the Longhouse, The University of British Columbia (UBC). The meeting was sponsored and initiated by Mheccu, UBC in response to concerns that mental health service delivery, including the field of community psychiatry, did not adequately — or appropriately — deal with the needs of Aboriginal people. At the initial meeting, the membership appointed an Aboriginal person to facilitate the meetings and ongoing funding support for the initiative was provided by the Mental Health Evaluation and Community Consultation Unit (Mheccu). Adult Mental Health Division, Ministry of Health Services (MHS), formally agreed to continue support for the initiative in the spring of 2000 until the end of the fiscal year (2001). It was at this time that the Aboriginal Mental Health Committee began its focus on and this draft discussion paper as the Aboriginal Mental Health 'Best Practices' Working Group.

The committee membership has changed and expanded over the past 18 months, however, the recommendations described below are not necessarily considered a representative view of Aboriginal perspectives. This discussion paper represents the discussions of the working group based on their viewpoints and the current literature available in the area of Aboriginal Mental Heath, including information from the Assembly of First Nations (AFN) and Inuit Tapirisat of Canada (ITC) Environmental Scan (Federal) and the Royal Commission Reports on Aboriginal Peoples. It is intended for distribution across the province for input in focus group format. As well input will be sought via email, fax etc.

Executive Summary, continued

CONCERNS continued

AREAS OF PARTICULAR CONCERN WHICH GENERATED THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE COMMITTEE ARE AS FOLLOWS:

- There are many agencies/organizations offering components of mental services with minimal coordination between them.
- There is no core Aboriginal Mental Health program federally or provincially.
- There are few formalized systems of case coordination, including a lack of protocols re: information sharing across agencies. Client/patient confidentiality is highly valued by providers as well as the provision of seamless, coordinated care. As a consequence, this is considered an important matter.
- Federal/ Provincial/ Regional jurisdictional debates continue to be a major barrier to service provision to First Nations and other Aboriginal people. Also, in relation to regional boundaries, little acknowledgement is given to the barrier those boundaries impose to those individuals moving between reserve and urban life.
- Interministerial jurisdictional debates also continue to be a serious barrier to the provision of service.
- There is a lack of coordinated services related to the well-being of children.
- Distinctions between the urban and rural experience remain poorly understood.
- There is a lack of education, training and support for mental health care providers on the front-line.
- The partial positions available through transfer are inadequate.
- There is not enough resource to meet the mental health concerns, in particular, the needs of those people affected by the residential schooling system.
- Overall, there is a lack of coherent mental health programs.
- The traditions, values and health belief systems of First Nations and other Aboriginal people are poorly understood by many providers and often are not respected or considered. Aboriginal knowledge tends to be devalued and marginalized.

Executive Summary, continued

CONCERNS continued

AREAS OF PARTICULAR CONCERN WHICH GENERATED THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE COMMITTEE ARE AS FOLLOWS, continued:

- Data management is not done consistently across agencies. Information systems regarding available resources are missing.
- There is a lack of timely, coordinated treatment and support for individuals with alcohol and substance use issues (in particular, across agencies and communities) as well as for those people with serious mental illness who require immediate intensive care. A lack of funding for travel to external treatment facilities also has been a barrier to care.
- Although there is some follow-up provided for individuals returning from treatment centres outside of the community, there are few rehabilitation programs. Individuals often find themselves returning to the same set of circumstances that precipitated and/or perpetuated the problem.
- Housing is considered to be one of the most pressing social issues affecting mental health. Youth without safe homes and elders requiring varying levels of supervised living and care have been identified as priority concerns. Safe housing for women also has been identified as an important issue in several communities. Although the hospital sometimes serves the latter function, many women continue to express the need for refuge for themselves and their children to prevent further abuse/assault.

Executive Summary, continued

RECOMMENDATIONS

Mental health services and programs must be supported by a reform process which recognizes the unique needs of First Nations and other Aboriginal people.

The following are priority needs:

- 1/ Mental Health Services which are:
 - Culturally relevant/ safe, i.e., respectful of the diverse 'cultures' of individuals, families and communities
 - Strength-based
 - Integrated, that is complete 'the Circle of Care'
- 2/ Support for Mental Health Community-Based Initiatives (including Suicide Prevention Programs)
- 3/ Accredited Education and Training
- 4/ Research
 - Evidence-based practices i.e., what is working?
 - Data collection regarding suicide
 - Linkages with the Health Information System to ensure baseline data in keeping with standards across the country.
 - Consultation with National and Provincial mental health bodies and First Nations and other Aboriginal people to develop program standards, outcome measures and evaluation criteria and methods

PREAMBLE

In July 1999, the first meeting of the Aboriginal Mental Health Committee was held at the Longhouse, UBC. The meeting was sponsored and initiated by the Mental Health Evaluation and Community Consultation Unit (Mheccu), Department of Psychiatry, UBC, in response to concerns that mental health service delivery, including the field of community psychiatry, did not adequately — or appropriately — deal with the needs of Aboriginal people. At the initial meeting, the membership appointed an Aboriginal person to facilitate the meetings and ongoing funding support for the initiative was provided by Mheccu. Adult Mental Health Division, Ministry of Health, formally agreed to continue support for the initiative in the spring of 2000 until the end of the fiscal year (2001). It was at this time that the Aboriginal Mental Health Committee began its focus on Aboriginal Mental Health 'Best Practices' and this draft discussion paper.

The committee membership has changed and expanded over the past 18 months, however, the recommendations described below are not necessarily considered a representative view of Aboriginal perspectives. This discussion paper represents the discussions of the working group based on their viewpoints and the current literature available in the area of Aboriginal Mental Heath, including information from the Assembly of First Nations (AFN) and Inuit Tapirisat of Canada (ITC) Environmental Scan and the Royal Commission Reports on Aboriginal Peoples. It is intended for distribution across the province for input in focus group format. As well input will be sought via email, fax etc.

It is expected that the information collected across the province will inform the development and implementation of an Aboriginal Mental Health Plan in B.C. consistent with the plan being developed by the AFN and ITC Mental Health Working Group (Federal). This plan also is intended to intersect with the current B.C.'s Mental Health Reform Best Practices documents re: Housing, Assertive Community Treatment, Crisis Response/ Emergency Services, Inpatient/ Outpatient Services, Consumer Involvement and Initiatives, Family Support and Involvement, Psychosocial Rehabilitation and Recovery and Rural and Remote as well as the Suicide Prevention document. The Aboriginal Mental Health Plan will be made available to all of the health authorities across B.C.

PART 1 INTRODUCTION

ABORIGINAL MENTAL HEALTH

ABORIGINAL MENTAL HEALTH

Regardless of the variations in the acculturation histories and health beliefs of First Nations and other Aboriginal people across Canada, many hold to the view that health refers to a person's whole being. The notion of health captures aspects of physical, mental, emotional and especially spiritual being. Equally important, it captures the context in which the individual and community lives, that is, both the physical and social environment. In illness terms, the First Nations people believe that illness is the outcome of a lack of balance or harmony in one or more of the physical, mental, emotional or spiritual aspects of life.

CONTEXTUAL FACTORS

European-introduced disease; evolutionary shifts in diet; the Indian Act with its attendant assimilationist policies including reserves and residential schools; and, integration and current devolution policies all have contributed to the disruption to First Nations cultures and as a consequence, their [mental] health.

There is no lack of data describing the disproportionate burden of [mental] health problems suffered by First Nations people². Brant (1994) identifies the following mental health issues in Native community across Canada: widespread substance abuse, including alcohol, solvent inhalation, street drugs and prescription medications; family violence, including spousal assault and the sexual and physical abuse of children; and depression and hopelessness, often culminating in suicide. These issues are identified consistently across many of the Aboriginal communities in Canada (CUPPL, 1995; Elias & Greyeyes, 1999; Jodoin, 1997).

Mental health problems are also clearly connected to the law — " the vast majority of Aboriginal crimes, for example, are petty offences associated with alcohol abuse, or involve forms of minor assault that are connected to interpersonal problems" (Warry, 1998, p. 130).

¹ Unless otherwise stated, this section sited directly from Smye, 2000.

² It must be remembered, however, that most of the epidemiological literature is based on data collected from status populations (Inuit and First Nations people living on reserve). According to 0'Neil's report on the Round Table proceedings, many participants of the Round Table argued that the health of approximately two-thirds of Aboriginal people is not reflected in this data....
.....some Aboriginal regions and communities suffer from health and social problems at far higher rates than others; indeed many Aboriginal communities should be characterized as healthy (0'Neil, 1993a, p. 16). If health service planning is to be grounded in the real needs of Aboriginal communities, an accurate picture of health conditions off reserve and outside the Territories is required.

THE CENTRAL PROBLEM: WHAT WE KNOW

The 1998 Mental Health Plan, 'Revitalizing and Rebalancing British Columbia's Mental Health System', sets out the objectives and strategies for mental health reform designed to promote the optimal mental health and participation of people with mental illness in British Columbia's communities (R.R.B.C., 1998, p.5). This plan is the product of a review of mental health care systems over the past decade as well as an extensive consultative process across the province of British Columbia in an attempt to address the current challenges that compromise quality care for people with mental illness (R.R.B.C., 1998, p. I), that is, those who experience long-term mental illness and disability, and those who experience acute, episodic serious and persistent mental disorder³.

The overall tenor of the plan is reflective of 'Western' understandings of health and illness and continues to be strongly influenced by psychiatry with its attachment to biomedical traditions, individualistic approaches to treatment and its long-standing history of cultural blindness (Fernando, 1991; Good, 1996) and racism⁴ (Fernando, 1991). Although most recently there has been gradual shift to family-focused and community-based care, the mental health system remains aligned with an illness service model. Even where illness service models used across Canada reflect a more holistic, multidisciplinary, and multi-sectoral approach to health, generally this development within western society, does not fully reflect the holistic approaches of Aboriginal traditions (O'Neil & Postl, 1994, p. 81) nor does it recognize or acknowledge the sociopolitical and historical context of Aboriginal health.

^{3 &#}x27;Severe and persistent mental illness' refers to following categories of illness as found in DSM IV (A.P.A., 1994): schizophrenia; affective disorders, including bipolar disorder; anxiety disorder; and, substance use disorder.

^{4 [}We] use racism in the same sense that Fernando (1991) does as essentially about "institutionally generated inequality' based on concepts of racial difference; although it affects the behaviour of individuals, 'prejudiced people are not the only racists'" (p. 24). As Fernando notes, acknowledgment of difference based on notions of race tends to inscribe patterns of inclusion and exclusion based on colour and/or phenotypic characteristics.

THE CENTRAL PROBLEM: WHAT WE KNOW, continued

Although many Aboriginal people have constructed a coherent and complex medical system out of disparate biomedical and Aboriginal medical systems, generally speaking, program delivery models which reflect predominately western European concepts of [mental] health and illness have been identified as largely ineffective in responding to the needs of First Nations people (McCormick, 1996; 1998; O'Neil, 1993; Warry, 1998). There is a tendency by First Nations people not to use the mental health services provided by the dominant culture (McCormick, 1996; Trimble and Fleming, 1990). If services are accessed approximately one-half drop out (Sue, 1981) and for many, treatments are not effectual (McCormick, 1996; Trimble & Fleming, 1990). Mental health programs and services designed in keeping with dominant cultural (biomedical) views of mental health and illness, ignore the unique cultural identities, histories and sociopolitical contexts of the everyday lives of Aboriginal peoples, putting them at risk of not having their health care needs recognized and met.

PART 2 WHAT WORKS⁵

COMMUNITY APPROACHES TO [MENTAL] HEALTH PROMOTION

The strength of the social bonds in many Native communities and the willingness to act for the benefit of the group has provided a supportive network where programs flourish. First Nations-chosen partnerships with outside institutions also has provided access to outside expertise and high caliber information drawn from a variety of sources for the enhancement of programs/projects. Community-based initiatives which provide a broad range of treatment, prevention and health promotion strategies appear to 'Work Best'.

⁵ Unless otherwise stated, this section comes directly from Smye, 2000.

⁶ Especially in the rural and urban reserves where kinship ties remain strong.

SUICIDE PREVENTION

In the Choosing Life document (RCAP, 1993), there are several examples of community responses to the crisis of adolescent suicide, child neglect and abuse. Although somewhat different in their origins, all of the projects/programs had in common the mobilization of whole-community efforts. For example, in response to the high suicide rates on reserve and consequent community distress, the Meadow Lake Tribal Council (MLTC) in northwestern Saskatchewan decided to make child care (a day care centre and home day care) a reality in their community despite numerous obstacles. The organizing committee was instructed by the MLTC executive director to "dream the best child care program" imaginable, and they did. The daycare would be guided by First Nations culture, traditions and values, and would be operated according to the highest standards of education and care in the country. It also would have a training program to certify Aboriginal people in the daycare field. This latter component prompted the MLTC to propose a partnership relationship with the School of Child and Youth Care at the University of Victoria, B.C. to assist in the training of potential staff within the community. Elders also became partners in this project by participating in the process of curriculum development and committing time to teaching in each week of the course.

As a spin-off of this program, child welfare, with its logo 'Children Are Our Future' became a whole-community issue with numerous positive consequences for the community: As such, the Meadow Lake Tribal Council's child care program only marked the beginning of an expanding vision of health and wellness for its people (RCAP, 1995, pp. 60-64)7. Unfortunately, at the time of the RCAP report this program was in jeopardy due to the financial arrangement with the federal government and currently the program looks quite different than at its inception, at least in part, related to this issue.

In response to another community crisis (a cluster of seven suicides within the space of less than a year) and the conviction that 'Children are our Future', members of the Wikwemikong community on Manitoulin Island mobilized to initiate the development

Part 2: What Works, continued

SUICIDE PREVENTION, continued

of a non-medical, alcohol and drug treatment program as well as an independent mental health support service. Five years after these programs began, a study was conducted in which the success of the program was attributed to the multidimensional nature of the program consisting of residential alcoholism treatment, family counseling, community feasts, job creation for youths, and self-esteem enhancement programs in the schools (Fox, Manitowabi, & Ward, 1984; Waldram, et al., 1995). Aboriginal mental health workers were employed to provide crisis intervention as well as liaison with the non-Aboriginal professional health and the social service sector (Waldram et al., 1995, p. 92).

Through its evolution, this program has brought together several aspects of both the biomedical and traditional systems: Notions of 'mental health' promotion and community development were gradually accepted and the emphasis of the clinic has moved from the more biomedical approach of individual treatment (to deal with the crisis of the 70s) to a family treatment and support model aimed at prevention. Today, public education to build awareness of and collective responsibility for mental health and wellness in the form of early detection and intervention as well as community development more generally, are identified by the manager of the program as the key to having a healthier community [and a lower suicide rate]. A strong component of this program is the way in which a formalized volunteer program enlists the support of the many people in the community (RCAP, 1995).

⁷ One of the spin-offs of the program was that many individuals developed excellent parenting skills and have served as role models in their community even though many of them would not go on to become child care workers in their community. Also, it was found that home day care worked best on reserve because few people had the financial resource to spend on the larger day care service (Telephone contact with the MLTC Health Clinic nurse coordinator, August, 1999).

⁸ Telephone contact with the MLTC Health Clinic nurse coordinator, August, 1999.

ALCOHOL AND DRUG PROGRAMS

NATIONAL NATIVE ALCOHOL AND DRUG ABUSE PROGRAM

The National Native Alcohol and Drug Abuse Program NNADAP was one of the first federal health programs to be devolved to Aboriginal administrative authority (O'Neil et. al., 1999). Since its inception, hundreds of community-based alcohol prevention and community treatment projects have been set up across the country. According to O'Neil et al. "it has contributed to the emergence of some of the most significant Aboriginal health initiatives in the country including: the Four Worlds Development Project, the Nechi Insitute and the Alkali Lake prohibition strategy" (p. 11). Although there have been mixed reviews in relation to the extent to which the program truly has been responsive to community needs, the most recent review suggests that "the majority of people feel that NNADAP does serve community need". However, it also concludes that to remain effective, the NNADAP workers need "infrastructural support, such as training, better recognition by management and external agencies, and increased resources" (p. 11).

ALKALI LAKE

The Alkali Lake program in B.C. is an example of a social/health initiative which has used a model of community mobilization to prompt improved health status9. In response to the devastating effects of alcohol and its impact in their community, Andy and Phyllis Chelsea mobilized their community towards a goal of sobriety (Johnson & Johnson, 1993; Waldram et al.,) Based on an historical study of the interventions used in this program between 1972 and 1993 as well as the data gathered in the research study, " A Study of Sobriety and After-Care at Alkali Lake Reserve-1993", it has been concluded that there were a couple of essential components to the success of its success: community-level interventions through the authority of the band chief and band social worker and the after-care component to assist people at a personal level to maintain sobriety. Interestingly, although not present at the initiation of the program in the early 1970s, over the past 20 years, this program has increasingly incorporated aspects of traditional healing such as the sweat

⁹ A film entitled The Honour of All - The Alkali Lake Story was produced in 1985. This film offers a message of hope for communities who are still caught in a trap of poverty, hopelessness and alcohol". (Johnson & Johnson, 1993, p. 228).

Part 2: What Works, continued

ALCOHOL AND DRUG PROGRAMS, continued

ALKALI LAKE, continued

lodge and pipe ceremony as part of a purposeful movement to revive and relearn Aboriginal spiritual ceremonies (Johnson & Johnson, 1993, p. 229). The incorporation of these traditional practices has been thought to have had an influence on the overall improved sense of solidarity in this community.

Although this program has been considered quite effective, [we] think it is important to note that both this program and the Nechi Institute programs argue for a disease model which incorporates a culturally adapted version of AA. Obviously the devastation that has accompanied alcohol and drug use across Aboriginal communities (and in particular this community) has prompted this approach (abstinence), however, this model is not useful for everyone. Many programs across Canada are incorporating 'harm reduction' strategies to address this issue.

Common to the RCAP (1996) discussions regarding health and healing was the expressed view that holistic approaches need to be incorporated into community healing centres. "For example, if the health problem presented is an infant's diaper rash, the need could be for an adequate water supply to do laundry; a holistic service would respond accordingly" (p. 238). Clear distinctions were made between centres which would offer services (treatment centres) and those dedicated to holistic approaches, that is, healing centres. Although these community-based centres might look somewhat different across locations based on their various needs, it was generally felt that they would include a broad spectrum of services and approaches including both medical and traditional healing and other culture-based programs. The following is an example of a community-based centre offering holistic approaches with some reported success (Postl et al., 1990 [as cited in RCAP, 1996, p. 341]).

WILLIAMS CHARLES BAND, COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTRE (MONTREAL LAKE)

As a reponse to poor living conditions, over crowded households and health problems including skin conditions, respiratory disease and addictions, the Montreal Lake reserve opened a healing centre in 1987. Central to this initiative was the use of families to act as health promoters and providers in the support of family relations. The centre offered schoolbased immunization, alcohol education and prenatal care and education. Pivotal to the delivery of those services was the bolstering of families as participants in community healing. This "resulted in an increased sense of security about health, public participation, preventive health care and family management of minor illnesses. People who used to live in fear, isolation and despair had a greater sense of belonging" (National Forum on Health, 1997)10.

¹⁰ In their study in Montreal Lake, Moore, Forbes and Henderson (1990) found that people reported thirteen direct or indirect healthy "People feel the reserve is safer; People feel better cared for; Confidentiality and trust of health care staff has been outcomes: enhanced; Elders feel better cared for; Healthy changes in lifestyle were reported; Children were hospitalized less often; Less violence was reported in the community; There was less alcohol and more "dry" activities; Coordination with hospitals was better; More comprehensive services were provided: There were better emergency and acute care services: Earlier intervention in the disease cycle was reported, with projected lower hospitalization rates; and, Health center staff were perceived as role models for community health development" [also cited in O'Neil & Postl, 1994, p. 78].

FISHING LAKE METIS SETTLEMENT

Although not operating a healing centre per se, this settlement also used a communitybased family centered approach with success. The use of the healing circle was believed to be crucial in the improvements experienced as a consequence of this initiative.

This three year community development initiative focused on reducing high levels of violence. During the three years of the project, 100 of 460 members of the settlement participated in self-esteem enhancement and personal empowerment training. Weekly healing circles were run by trained volunteers. These efforts were funded by the settlement council and government. The healing circles resulted in the resurgence of spirituality, the closure of local bars, a renewal of community ties and economic development. Many residents are now pursuing education, small business endeavours and addiction-free lifestyles. Role modeling by a core group of residents influenced the health of this community (National Forum on Health, 1997). The Fishing Lake Metis Settlement council also imposed a no smoking bylaw in 1993.

As mentioned previously kinship/family is considered to be a core institution of Aboriginal society. "It is central to all social needs, including governance, economy, education and healing" (RCAP, 1996, p. 244). Although family often plays an important role in non-Aboriginal community, individual rights and autonomy often take precedence over family ties and obligations. Many RCAP participants (1996) felt that family-oriented healing centres and residential programs (healing lodges) are important for the recovery of Aboriginal people who have become overwhelmed by social, emotional and spiritual problems.

Although there are several healing lodges across the country, many of these lodges do not incorporate a family treatment component, are not easily accessible to urban Aboriginal populations and/or due to funding constraints, "offer only individual therapies which exclude

FISHING LAKE METIS SETTLEMENT, continued

attention to the broader social, emotional and spiritual approaches to healing" (RCAP, 1996, p. 243). At the time of the RCAP discussions several communities were planning residential programs to meet the expressed need for culturally-appropriate residential facilities which would incorporate family treatment and support and address a variety of issues11 and several existing services were considering how they might include family care into their programs.

NECHI INSTITUTE AND POUNDMAKER'S LODGE

The Nechi Institute and Poundmaker's Lodge in Alberta which have an excellent reputation for training counselors and treating addictions (using an AA model with the goal of abstinence), offer a wide range of services which include incorporation of traditional healing practices and other culture-based approaches. However, many Aboriginal people continue to access the medical services in urban centres for addictions treatment.

THE CASE OF THE ANISHNAWBE HEALTH CENTRE

In terms of urban health centres, Anishnawbe Health in Toronto is a culture-based multiservice health centre in downtown Toronto which has been operating with since 1989 with the support of the Ontario Ministry of Health and the City of Toronto. "No funding is provided by the Federal government" (George & Nahwegahbow, 1995, p. 242) [italics mine].

Many different Aboriginal communities (status and non-status) with varying socioeconomic backgrounds are represented in the population who access the services and programs and as such, care delivery is offered in Cree, Ojibway and English. The common theme amongst the people served by Anishnawbe Health is that they are searching for "a sense of Aboriginal identity" and healing – mentally, emotionally, spiritually and physically. In this setting, Aboriginal people are exposed to an understanding of their political, social and economic situation from an historical perspective and are assisted in learning about "the traditional ways through exposure to ceremonies, elders, traditional healers and teachings etc." (George & Nahwegahbow, 1995, p. 242). Dedicated to full recovery, health and well-being of the community, the centre provides timely education and health promotion. The centre's focus is to help prevent STDs, HIV/AIDS and to promote proper nutrition and a healthy lifestyle.

The notion of being 'culturally-based' in this setting translates into a service which places traditional healing approaches and healers at the centre of the organization as the primary healing methods with western practitioners as secondary helpers to the traditional healers¹², 13.

¹² The centre is grounded in the medicine wheel (O'Neil & Postl, 1994, p. 77).

¹³ However, funding arrangements do not reflect this commitment to traditional healing systems. The annual budget for physicians (1995) is almost \$300,000 and for the traditional healing program is \$45,00013. As well, the Medical Services Branch continues to reject applications for funding to bring healers into the centre. Federal responsibility for status First Nations people living off reserve remains an issue. Also problematic in relation to the issue of healers is the scarcity of traditional healers, teachers and elders who are credible and willing to travel to the urban setting.

VANCOUVER NATIVE HEALTH SOCIETY

The Vancouver Native Health Society has developed clinic and outreach services to a diverse group of First Nations and other Aboriginal people in the Downtown Eastside, Vancouver, similar to the Anishnawbe Health Centre in Toronto. In addition, over the past year, the Residential School Survivor Healing Centre has been opened, offering a broad range of services including counseling, acupuncture, traditional healing, support groups, recreational activities and healing circles.

14SAL'I'SHAN INSTITUTE: EDUCATION AND CARE FOR THE CAREGIVERS

In the late 1980s, the Sal'i shan Institute designed, developed and began to deliver residential education/training opportunities for workers doing community health education, counseling, and associated work, including treatment and prevention of addictions.

Their programming begins with learning about one's personal inner world, getting in touch with unresolved issues, learning how to learn and finding a personal path towards increased wellness and effectiveness. To complement and supplement this process, learns learn more about their family and community history, and the balance of forces in their lives, generation to generation, that have contributed to their colonization.

As learners learn more about personal growth processes and theories of human and social behaviour, they apply what they are learning to their own growth and development. Such a strategy contributes to understanding ways and means to promote decolonization.

SAL'I'SHAN INSTITUTE: EDUCATION AND CARE FOR THE CAREGIVERS, continued

After they increase their awareness, understanding of knowledge of communication, and their oral and writing skills, they move into studies of "violence, abuse and addictive behaviours" within families and communities, wholistic health and major illnesses, counseling skills, planning and community development.

Critical to the success of the learners who have completed this Institute's program is the residential nature of the education and training. Learners share accommodation, share meals together, work together on assignments, play together and learn together in the classroom. The manager of the teaching/learning becomes a member of the group who shares his/her personal resources, while mediating the learning in ways that increase learning skills, and support capacity building.

Early in their studies, the learners discover that they share a similar personal, family and community history, and that they are able to actively support one another in the 'selfdiscovery' process. Their interaction becomes increasingly reciprocol as they begin to gain feelings of satisfaction from taking risks. Feeling more and more safe in the group, each member begins to function more and more like healthy family members.

For most learners in this residential teaching/learning environment for 3 consecutive weeks each time, their first experience exposes them to a new kind of support. This support is anchored in life experiences with other adults, their fellow learners, who enjoy relative wellness, and therefore possess the ability to 'give of self' in ways that are new for many others in the group. Development of mutually supportive relationships informally and nonformally, contributes immeasurably to the quality of learning that takes place in the more formal teaching/learning environment of the classroom. The Sal'i'shan Institute practices 'transformative education'.

ABUSE RESPONSES

15HOLLOW WATER COMMUNITY HOLISTIC CIRCLE HEALING

In the mid-1980s, workers in health, education and welfare came together as a resource group concerned about addictions, sexual abuse, and other kinds of violence in their community. "As we progressed in our own healing we began to prepare ourselves to assist in the healing of others. We made a real effort to learn more about sexuality, the nature of sexual abuse, and the healing process." Then in 1986, there was a disclosure in the community. Action taken resulted in the creation of a strategy to address violence and abuse (Community Holistic Circle Healing [CHCH]: An Approach, Summary May 12,1997).

"The Community Holistic Circle Healing is our attempt to take responsibility for what is happening to us, to use the power of the circle to bring ourselves back into balance, to make our community a safe place for future generations. Community Holistic Circle Healing stems from our beliefs that victimizers are created, not born. That we have to break the cycle of abuse now, and that given a safe place, healing is possible and will happen" (Community Holistic Circle Healing: An Approach, p.2).

The traditional way to break this cycle was for the community to:

- **1/** Bring the problem out into the community;
- 2/ Protect the victim in such a way as to minimally disrupt functioning of the family and community;
- 3/ Hold the person accountable for his/her behaviour; and,
- 4/ Provide the opportunity for balance to be restored to all parties.

15 Bill Mussell, July, 2001, 'Examples of 'Best Practices',

ABUSE RESPONSES, continued

15 HOLLOW WATER COMMUNITY HOLISTIC CIRCLE HEALING, continued

This community has operationalized a 13 step process to address the uniqueness of the needs of the victim, victimizer, families involved, and the workers associated with incident. The process contributes to the education of all people present about the seriousness and the dynamics of the offence. It sets the emotional stage necessary for change in attitudes to take place. It is, in effect, a mini-workshop, and can include lectures, videos and handouts.

The Hollow Water process addresses prevention, intervention, and healing. The process is owned and supported by the community members themselves. Offenders who choose the Hollow Water process become an integral part of the community, with desired supports. The whole process identified with the 13 steps may take more than a few years. Movement from denial to accountability is demonstrated by candidates who chose the Hollow Water CHCH process which enjoys significant success. Many candidates who have completed the program, have become desirable community citizens, and a resource for the process.

PART 3 COMMUNITY

COMMUNITY-BASED FINDINGS

ABORIGINAL MENTAL HEALTH/ **WELLNESS: THE FOCUS**

'Healthy Children' is the central focus for many Aboriginal people in B.C., alongside healthy families and adults and elders. For many First Nations and other Aboriginal people, healing means dealing with approaches to wellness which draw on the culture for inspiration and means of expression (Gladstone, 1994 re: Heiltsuk healing, p.8).

PRINCIPLES

In keeping with the **relational** perspectives of many Aboriginal people, the committee would advise that the following four principles be adhered to in all discussions related to Aboriginal [mental] health/ wellness programming (Royal Commission Report on Aboriginal People, 1996):

- 1/ Mutual respect
- 2/ Mutual recognition
- 3/ Mutual sharing
- **4/** Mutual responsibility

In addition to the four principles, the following principles and values are viewed as key to the achievement of 'Best Practices':

HOLISM/ BALANCE

According to most First Nations traditions, mental health problems are a reflection of imbalance or disharmony in the circle of physical, emotional, intellectual and spiritual dimensions of the self. These aspects of the self are closely tied to both the physical and social environments (RCAP, 1995, p. 21). The medicine wheel, which is used widely across Native communities, symbolizes wholeness and the importance of balance (Mussell, 1994). Common to the RCAP (1996) discussions regarding health and healing was the expressed view that holistic approaches need to be incorporated into community healing centers. Therefore, the root causes of mental health problems such as intergenerational trauma, poverty, unemployment and lack of housing need to be addressed alongside the consequent mental health issues, that is, depression, substance use, abuse, PTSD, and anxiety disorders.

Therefore, instead of defining "serious" mental health problems as only comprising the medically defined disorders (DSM IV), many Aboriginal caregivers and policy analysts feel it is more appropriate to focus on mental health issues which are posing the most serious threat

PRINCIPLES, continued

HOLISM/ BALANCE, continued

to the survival and health of Aboriginal communities. This does not mean that Aboriginal people do not live with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and other affective disorders and that these are not of concern to Aboriginal communities but rather that these are not a threat to the survival of Aboriginal people (Smye, 2000). Holistic healing services are being sought by many Aboriginal people and often include: psychological/counseling services, individual and/or group healing re: alcohol and/or drug, traditional/ spiritual healing, acupuncture/ massage and herbal remedies.

¹⁶CLIENT-FOCUS

- clients/patients will be invited to participate in the design of mental health services as they develop, i.e. their knowledge and input is valued;

COMMUNITY/ FAMILY-CENTERED

– the relational aspect of people is considered to be of primary importance and often extends beyond the family and friends to the larger community;

SELF-DETERMINATION

- a collective of people constituting a community is viewed to be self-governing when its members are responsible and accountable to each other for the lifestyle they share. Being self-determining and self-sufficient are key to the well-being of Aboriginal individuals and communities, therefore, empowerment models are valued. Building personal, family and community capacity is an essential aspect of working towards self-governance and wellness;

¹⁶ The following principles and values are also drawn from the document by Jorgenson, L. & Smye, V. (2000), 'Working Towards an Integrated Central Coast Mental Wellness Plan'.

PRINCIPLES, continued

CO-RELIANCE

– members of a soccer team who rely upon each other's skills without expecting more of one player because of his/her exceptional abilities are co-reliant. They share responsibilities to win the game much in the same way that whole families, in more traditional times survived 'on the trapline' for weeks at a time. Each member believed in his /her ability to do his/her job, believed that other members would do their job, and believed that the whole family would succeed in its undertaking;

COMPREHENSIVENESS

– provision of a range of assessment, triage, treatment and consultation programs;

INTEGRATED AND COORDINATE

- services and programs are integrated at all levels, micro, meso and macro;

ACCESSIBLE

- services are available to all individuals and their families, delivered in a timely fashion in locations and at times designed to meet individual and family needs with clear points of entry into the system and formalized referral arrangements;

ACCOUNTABLE

- services undergo ongoing monitoring and evaluation activities designed to ensure the provision of quality service;

ETHICAL

- services are respectful of the rights of persons, e.g. the right to confidential accessible and safe services;

SUSTAINABLE

– services are designed in keeping with the idea that the communities will be able to sustain them, e.g. a change in personnel will not mean that the service will cease to exist;

PRINCIPLES, continued

HUMANENESS

– services are designed so that all persons will be treated with respect and dignity, regardless of the presenting features;

FUNCTIONAL/PRACTICAL

- the services are a good fit with individual and community need; and

CULTURALLY SAFE/RELEVANT

- services are reflective of respect for the traditions and values, i.e., the cultures of First Nations and other Aboriginal people, including their notions of spirituality. Cultural congruence ensures that the client's value system, life experiences, and expectations about the therapeutic process will be integrated into the therapeutic process even when the client is not fully conscious of these factors. Because of the varied acculturation histories and practices of First Nations and other Aboriginal people, 'cultural relevance' needs to be articulated by each community and/or individual. It is by developing meaningful relationships with one another that we come to understand the particular 'culture' of individuals, families and communities.

INTERSECTION WITH B.C.'S MENTAL HEALTH **REFORM 'BEST PRACTICES'**

It is a generally accepted view that although B.C.'s Mental Health Reform 'Best Practices' documents (2000) will be helpful in providing quidelines for mental health planning across the province, the rather crucial lens of culture is missing. As a consequence, in critiquing these documents, we make the following general comments.

Consistent with efforts in other areas in Canada, B.C. has committed to targeting mental health resources and services to the approximately 3% of adults with the most disabling forms of mental illness usually associated with the DSM IV diagnostic categories of schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and other affective disorders. Because of the usual association of "serious mental illness" with diagnostic categories (DSM IV), the mental health needs of Aboriginal people have been largely glossed over or ignored. Also, the dominance of ideas in the current health system which separate mental health issues from other aspects of the self as well as into categorizations which delineate 'adult mental health' from 'child health' and 'alcohol and drug' has precluded examining the realities of Aboriginal mental health concerns in a culturally relevant/ safe fashion — concerns which actually are threatening the survival of some Aboriginal communities.

"In the summer of 1999, the Ministry of Health released Criteria for identifying persons with the highest priority for service. These criteria conveyed a definition of "serious mental illness" that was based, not on psychiatric diagnosis but, on the degree of disability or functional impairment associated with a mental disorder" (Mheccu, 2001). Although, it is our hope that this kind of shift will assist in the struggle to gain support for Aboriginal Mental Health/ Wellness in B.C. by focusing on function rather than diagnosis (e.g., B.C.'s Mental Health Reform Best Practices 'Psychosocial Rehabilitation and Recovery'), it still fails to adequately address the divide across health which marginalizes Aboriginal health needs, e.g., the exclusion of alcohol and drug from mental health and tends to be 'illness' focused.

INTERSECTION WITH B.C.'S MENTAL HEALTH **REFORM 'BEST PRACTICES', continued**

The second ideological underpinning of the Best Practices documents which runs counter to Aboriginal perspectives is the emphasis on the individual. As mentioned previously, family and community are an essential aspect of the self for most Aboriginal people. While recognizing that the 'Family Support and Involvement' document is an attempt to point to the importance of that aspect of a person's life, for Aboriginal people integration of family and community into all aspects of mental health planning is essential. The relational language of an Aboriginal worldview generally is missing from the 'Best Practices' documents.

Aboriginal Mental Health 'Best Practices' needs to reflect a worldview consistent with Aboriginal understandings of and response to mental health and illness.

Best Practices Documents:

Housing

- It is agreed that housing is one of the most important considerations in mental health planning. Homelessness is one of the root causes of mental health problems for Aboriginal people. Those persons with serious mental health concerns who are unable to access appropriate, safe, affordable and secure housing will have a significantly reduced quality of life and an increased need for and reliance on emergency, support and treatment services. Some Aboriginal people live in abject poverty. These issues can no longer be ignored.
- Many Aboriginal reserve communities lack adequate housing and as a consequence, special housing initiatives such as supported housing for those with mental health concerns and safe housing for women and children, elders and youth are largely unavailable. Addressing the housing issue demands integrated approaches which cross jurisdictional divides and address the politics of life on reserve. For example, strong linkages need to be made with Band Councils. Also, models of housing for supported/ assisted living need to fit with the family and community orientation of Aboriginal people.

INTERSECTION WITH B.C.'S MENTAL HEALTH **REFORM 'BEST PRACTICES', continued**

Best Practices Documents, continued:

Assertive Community Treatment

■ This is a service delivery model that provides flexible, comprehensive services to individuals with multiple and complex needs. ACT is distinct from other models of case management in its key components, which include a low staff-to-consumer ratio, a team approach, consumer directed delivery of care, assertive outreach and continuous services. Participants suggested that this model of service delivery would fit for persons with complex mental health issues who require follow-up for an extended period of time. The model described in small communities would fit for many of the Aboriginal reserve communities because of the small number of people who would require this kind of care. Again, ACT needs to fit with the family and community orientation of Aboriginal people.

Crisis Response/Emergency Services

- Definition of mental health crisis/ emergency needs to include child abuse, family violence, sexual assault, suicidal ideation/ attempt and alcohol and/or drug use which has resulted in self-harm behaviour as these are the most frequently cited mental health emergency situations in Aboriginal community.
- As outlined in this Best Practices document (pp. 40-41), the most challenging aspect of this service for Aboriginal people relates to how it can be realized in rural and remote communities. As suggested these services need to be integrated into a comprehensive framework of community development and specific capacity building initiatives within community to ensure their success.
- In some communities, crisis intervention staff will be lay community members trained through outside programs (preferably, they come into the community to do the training) and supported by mental health provider staff. 'Care for the Caregivers' is an essential element of these programs.

INTERSECTION WITH B.C.'S MENTAL HEALTH **REFORM 'BEST PRACTICES', continued**

Best Practices Documents, continued:

Crisis Response/Emergency Services, continued

■ Services need to be culturally relevant/ safe (for example, they need to include access to translators – some elders do not speak English). Many Aboriginal people complain of feeling unsafe when accessing emergency services.

Inpatient/Outpatient Services

- One of the most consistently voiced barriers related to accessing inpatient/ outpatient services is admission and discharge criteria. For example, often alcohol and/or drug use will mean denial of service, including a complete assessment. Numerous examples have been given in which Aboriginal people have been turned away from receiving assessment and appropriate interventions because of this issue. Although the dually diagnosed are acknowledged as being appropriate for the mental health system within this document, those with a primary mental health issue related to alcohol and drugs without an apparent mental health diagnosis would not.
- Many Aboriginal people have felt that inpatient and outpatient services do not reflect the value of Aboriginal knowledge. Services offered do not incorporate the broad range of approaches to [mental] health and some health providers are not open to explore the options important to Aboriginal people. Also, assessments are not always sensitive to the unique realities of Aboriginal practices (e.g. spiritual practices). Secondary services in general hospitals as well as tertiary psychiatric services need to be culturally relevant/ safe. Racism needs to be addressed in these centers.

INTERSECTION WITH B.C.'S MENTAL HEALTH **REFORM 'BEST PRACTICES', continued**

Best Practices Documents, continued:

Inpatient/Outpatient Services, continued

- Acute care services need to be provided in a way that is respectful of privacy and confidentiality. Effort needs to be made to provide consistent care across providers with minimal disruption. It must be remembered that Aboriginal people often are traveling great distances at great inconvenience.
- Inpatient services need to include residential programs which focus on the most pressing mental health concerns for Aboriginal people – including alcohol and/or drug use.
- Outpatient services need to include long-term ongoing counseling support for persons traumatized by residential and/or boarding school experiences.
- It is agreed that integration is an essential element in the provision of 'Best Practices' in Mental Health.

Family Support and Involvement

As mentioned, this is an integral aspect of care for most First Nations and other Aboriginal people and would be integrated into all aspects of programming and service delivery. "The family is the heart of our lives and our communities" (Ktunaxa Kinbasket Tribal Council & East Kootenay Health Authorities, Memorandum of Understanding, 'Healthy People in Healthy Families in Healthy Communities', March/April 2001).

Consumer Involvement and Initiatives

Client-focused care is strongly supported. Self-determination and reliance on working from one's inner capacities is encouraged.

Part 3: Community-Based Findings, continued

INTERSECTION WITH B.C.'S MENTAL HEALTH **REFORM 'BEST PRACTICES', continued**

Best Practices Documents, continued:

Psychosocial Rehabilitation and Recovery

- Community treatment programs are a preferred mode of treatment for many Aboriginal people. This component of mental health care has been established to provide treatment/intervention for short-term and longer-term care, sometimes in a residential setting. Such programs usually use an interdisciplinary team approach to psychosocial rehabilitation and recovery and to provide support and individualized treatment plans. It is important to consider assessment tools carefully to ensure they are culturally relevant/ safe.
- The care provided in the treatment program is different from the psychiatric care focus of a hospital inpatient psychiatric unit in that this program provides treatment and interventions that enable a person to gradually attain the vocational, intellectual and communicative skills necessary for successful re-integration into the community. Employment opportunities are limited on reserve and in other rural and remote areas, therefore, persons living in these areas present special challenges. Capacity building in community needs to go hand in hand with efforts to provide psychosocial rehabilitation.
- The community treatment model has several advantages. Firstly, the persons requiring this type of treatment can remain closer to their communities and receive treatment in a less clinical environment. This is especially important for [First Nations¹⁷] people whose families and community are important partners in treatment and rehabilitation. Secondly, this kind of treatment program is able to integrate the whole family in the treatment processes, and finally, community treatment programs can integrate holistic and traditional approaches to mental health in their treatment plans. Interestingly, the Royal Commission on Aboriginal People strongly recommends the development of a network of family-oriented "healing lodges" for residential treatment oriented to family and community healing.

¹⁷ We bracket First Nations to indicate that we know that many non-Aboriginal people also place value on family and community, however, living on reserve makes this a qualitatively different experience for the First Nations people.

PART 4 MEETING

MEETING THE CHALLENGES

CHALLENGES

- There are many agencies/organizations offering components of mental services with minimal coordination between them.
- There is no core Aboriginal Mental Health program federally or provincially.
- There are few formalized systems of case coordination, including a lack of protocols re: information sharing across agencies. Client/patient confidentiality is highly valued by providers as well as the provision of seamless, coordinated care. As a consequence, this is considered an important matter.
- Federal/ Provincial/ Regional jurisdictional debates continue to be a major barrier to service provision to First Nations and other Aboriginal people. Also, in relation to regional boundaries, little acknowledgement is given to the barrier those boundaries impose to those individuals moving between reserve and urban life.
- Interministerial jurisdictional debates also continue to be a serious barrier to the provision of service.
- There is a lack of coordinated services related to the well-being of children.
- Distinctions between the urban and rural experience remain poorly understood.
- There is a lack of education, training and support for mental health care providers on the front-line.
- The partial positions available through transfer are inadequate.
- There is not enough resource to meet the mental health concerns, in particular, the needs of those people affected by the residential schooling system.
- Overall, there is a lack of coherent mental health programs.
- The traditions, values and health belief systems of First Nations and other Aboriginal people are poorly understood by many providers and often are not respected or considered. Aboriginal knowledge tends to be devalued and marginalized.
- Data management is not done consistently across agencies. Information systems regarding available resources are missing.

CHALLENGES, continued

- There is a lack of timely, coordinated treatment and support for individuals with alcohol and substance use issues (in particular, across agencies and communities) as well as for those people with serious mental illness who require immediate intensive care. A lack of funding for travel to external treatment facilities also has been a barrier to care.
- Although there is some follow-up provided for individuals returning from treatment centres outside of the community, there are few rehabilitation programs. Individuals often find themselves returning to the same set of circumstances that precipitated and/or perpetuated the problem.
- Housing is considered to be one of the most pressing social issues affecting mental health. Youth without safe homes and elders requiring varying levels of supervised living and care have been identified as priority concerns. Safe housing for women also has been identified as an important issue in several communities. Although the hospital sometimes serves the latter function, many women continue to express the need for refuge for themselves and their children to prevent further abuse/assault.

RECOMMENDED PRACTICES

Strength-Based

Beginning from the position of the strengths of individuals, families and communities is strongly supported in Aboriginal traditions (Van Uchelen et al., 1997; Waterfall et al., 1994).

Integration: 'Completing the Circle of Care'

As a concept, integration is usually perceived as the bringing of people of different racial or ethnic groups into unrestricted and equal association, as in society or an organization. In contrast with assimilation, integration supports the retention of cultural distinctiveness/ uniqueness.

This concept is also applied to the delivery of programs and services, especially in communities that value the family and community. In the case of First Nations, three different levels of programs and services are identifiable: the macro, meso and micro, when considering the importance of integrated delivery.

At the macro level, decisions are made by the federal and provincial governments, as part of respecting responsibility for the well-being of First Nations and other Aboriginal peoples. Jurisdictional debates between these levels of government related to mental health services and programs impacts the ability to offer integrated services and programs and ultimately the well-being of Aboriginal people. We recommend that this issue be addressed by the new Provincial Government's Mental Health Minister of State. In addition, interministerial approaches need to be supported to address issues of poverty, unemployment and poor housing which plaque many Aboriginal communities. Also, decisions and actions taken by regional levels of government and non-government organizations deserve scrutiny by leaders who value maximization of outcomes.

At the meso level, integration needs to occur between hospital and community mental health programs and services. "Best Practices in Mental Health Reform promotes

RECOMMENDED PRACTICES, continued

Integration: 'Completing the Circle of Care', continued

the integration of mental health services across the hospital and community, from both administrative and clinical perspectives. It recognizes breaking down silos in the funding and management of mental health care, allowing for a broader review of systems issues and consumer needs" (Inpatient/ Outpatient Services, p. 12). The ability to offer integrated services hinges on the ability to establish structures which support integration in Aboriginal communities.

At the micro level, mental health services and programs need to reflect an acknowledgement of and respect for the importance of family and community for personal healing and well-being. Therefore, family and community-centered care is strongly supported.

Community-Based Initiatives

It is recommended that community-based initiatives be strongly supported. Community development is a process whereby individuals and groups voluntarily come together to collaborate for the achievement of shared interests. It is a democratic experience concerned with responding to unmet needs and interests that involves those most directly affected as full participants and is concerned with social change that improves the social and economic well-being of individuals, families and communities (Mussell, 1994). Community development models are sensitive to community level needs, wants and best thinking. The strength of social bonds in many Native communities and the willingness to act for the benefit of the group has provided a supportive network where programs flourish, especially evident in the rural and urban reserves where kinship ties remain strong (Smye, 2000).

RECOMMENDED PRACTICES, continued

Cultural Relevance/Safety

It is considered essential that all providers, including administrators, will possess a knowledge of the history, traditions, values and forces that have contributed to the lifestyle of families and community. It is expected that providers possess an awareness of their own social location and the impact that may have on service and program development and delivery. Mental health services and programs that reflect a respect for the knowledge, traditions and practices connected with the 'good ways' of Aboriginal peoples and/or communities are necessary to bring change and move toward a brighter future. Indigenous healing practices need to be accessible.

Because of the heterogeneity of First Nations health and illness beliefs, prevention and health promotion strategies need to be tailored to reflect the cultural uniqueness of the individuals and community in which a health program is being established. Many Aboriginal communities across Canada have taken the lead in constructing health programs from aspects of both biomedical and traditional medical services dependent on the particular issue being addressed and the beliefs of the population accessing health care (Waldram et al.,1995; Warry, 1995). For example, healing lodges of whatever type have been the most effective in incorporating cultural content into their programs. Local nations should have their own healing lodges since, the cultural elements consumers are exposed to will be at least somewhat familiar in a real way and will be reinforced in their community. This makes the chances of follow-up better, addressing issues such as continuity of care and cultural safety etc.

In urban settings, health centers need to attend to the issue of 'cultural diversity' across Aboriginal community, i.e., offering programs with the understanding that seventeen percent of Canada's Aboriginal people live in B.C. This represents a large and culturally diverse community consisting of over 94,000 status Indians as well as 70,000 non-status Indians and Metis. There are almost 200 bands (the bureaucratic organizational structure) with membership ranging from less than 100 to over 2000.

RECOMMENDED PRACTICES, continued

Education/Training

High priority needs to be given to prepare and equip practitioners of First Nation and Aboriginal backgrounds (as well as non-Aboriginal people) with the knowledge, values and skills required to promote holistic wellness with their families and communities. It is important to provide these practitioners with the foundation necessary to undertake advanced accredited courses of study and to develop and demonstrate capacities for ongoing self-care, commitment to lifelong learning and the capacity to provide leadership in the field of mental health.

'Care for the Caregivers' needs to be built into all mental health programs including strategies such as: crisis debriefing sessions, ongoing case reviews, regularly scheduled leaves, supported educational opportunities, meaningful recognition and supportive backup.

Research

- Evidence-based practices i.e., what is working?
- Data collection regarding suicide
- Linkages with the Health Information System to ensure baseline data in keeping with standards across the country.
- Consultation with National and Provincial mental health bodies and First Nations and other Aboriginal people to develop program standards, outcome measures and evaluation criteria and methods

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Aboriginal Nurses Association of Canada. (1996). HIV/AIDS and its impact on Aboriginal women in Canada. Ottawa: Aboriginal Nurses Association.

Ahmad, W. (Ed.). (1993). "Race" and health in contemporary Britain. Buckingham, England, Open University Press.

Alcoff, L. (1991-92). The problem of speaking for others. Cultural Critique, Winter, 5-31.

Allen, D., Benner, P., & Diekelmann, N.L. (1986). Three paradigms for nursing research: Methodological implications. In P.L. Chinn (Ed.), Nursing research methodology: Issues and implementation (pp. 157-168). Rockville, Maryland: Aspen Publishers.

American Psychiatric Association (APA). (1994). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual - DSM IV.

Anderson, G. (1989). Critical ethnography in education: Origins, current status and new directions. Review in Educational Research, 39 (3), 249-270.

Anderson, J., Elfert, H. & Lai, M., (1989). Ideology in the clinical context: Chronic illness, ethnicity and the discourse on normalization. Sociology of Health and Illness, 11. 253-278.

Anderson, J. (1991). Reflexivity in fieldwork: Toward feminist epistemology. Image: Journal of Nursing Scholarship, 23 (2), 115-118.

Anderson, J. & Reimer Kirkham, S. (1999). Discourses on health: A critical perspective. In H. Coward and P. Ratanakul (eds.) A cross-cultural dialogue on health care ethics (pp. 47-67). Waterloo, Ontario, Canada: Wilfred Laurier University Press.

Armstrong, H.A. (1991). The development and evolution of mental health services in the Sioux Lookout Zone over a nineteen year period. Arctic Medical Research, Suppl, 249-253.

Beaton, N. (1994). Aboriginal health and a new curriculum for rural doctors (editorial). The Medical Journal of Australia, 160, 185-186.

Bhabha, H. (1994). The location of culture. Routledge, London.

Bhabha, H. (1995). Cultural diversity and cultural difference. In B. Ashcroft, G. Griffiths & H. Tiffen (eds.) *The post-colonial studies reader* (pp. 206-209). New York, London: Routledge.

Brant, C. (1984). Programming for Native Indian mental health. In D.P. Lumsden (ed.), Community mental health action: Primary prevention programming in Canada.

Canadian Public Health Association.

Brant, Clare. (1990). Native ethics and rules of behaviour. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 35 (6), 534-539.

Brant, C. (1994). Native issues. In R. Grant (ed.), *Images in psychiatry – Canada*. World Psychiatric Association.

Brant, Clare. (1993). Suicide in Canadian Aboriginal peoples: Causes and prevention. In The Path to Healing: Report of the National Round Table on Aboriginal Health and Social Issues – Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples (pp.55-71). Ottawa: Ministry of Supply and Services Canada.

British Columbia Royal Commission on Health Care Costs. (1991). *Closer to Home*. Victoria, B.C.

Browne, A.J. (1995). The meaning of respect: A First Nations perspective. *The Canadian Journal of Nursing Research*, 27 (4), 95-109.

Browne, A.J. (1997). A concept analysis of respect applying the hybrid model in cross cultural settings. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 19 (6), 762-780.

Browne, A.J. (1999). Social, economic and political determinants of women's health. Unpublished course paper.

Browne, A.J. (1999b). Medicalization and resistance in Aboriginal health care. Unpublished course paper.

Browne, A.J., Fiske, J., & Thomas, G. (2000). First Nations women's encounters with mainstream health care services and systems. Vancouver: B.C. Centre for Excellence for Women's Health

Browne, A.J. & Smye, V. (2000). *Cultural safety in qualitative research in Aboriginal communities*. A paper presentation at the Sixth International Conference on Qualitative Health Research, Banff, Alberta.

Campbell, J.C.D., & Bunting, S. (1991). Voices and paradigms: Perspectives on critical and feminist theory in nursing. *Advances in Nursing Science*, 13 (3), 1-15.

Capra, F. (1982). The turning point: Science, society and the rising culture. London: Wildwood House.

Carlson, R. (1986). After analysis: A study of transference dreams following treatment. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 54, 246-252.

Cashmore, E. (1996). *Dictionary of race and ethnic relations* (3rd ed.). London, England: Routledge.

Chandler, M.J. & LaLonde, C. (1998). Cultural continuity as a hedge against suicide against Canada's First Nations. *Transcultural Psychiatric Review*, 35 (2), 191-219.

Chartrand, Paul. (1995). A special report on suicide: A minority view. In Report of the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples: Special report on suicide among Aboriginal people, *Choosing Life* (pp.95-97). Ottawa: Ministry of Supply and Services Canada.

Chrisjohn, R. & Young, S. (1997). *The circle game: Shadow and substance in the Indian residential school experience in Canada*. Penticton, B.C.: Theytus Books Ltd.

Cooney, C. (1994). A comparative analysis of transcultural nursing and cultural safety, *Nursing Praxis in New Zealand*, 9 (1), 6-12.

Cooper, M. (1993). Aboriginal suicide rates: Indictors of needy communities.

In P. Stephenson, S. Elliott, L. Foster & Harris, J. (eds.) *A persistent spirit: Towards understanding Aboriginal health in British Columbia* (pp. 207-222). Victoria, B.C.: University of Victoria Press.

Crandon, l. (1986). Medical dialogue and the political economy of medical pluralism: A case from highland Bolivia. *American Ethnologist*, 13 (3), 463-476.

Cresswell, J. (1998). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

CUPPL, Faculty of Medicine, UBC (February, 1998). Proposal for a comprehensive and integrated Gitxsan mental health system.

Dalrymple, A.J.et. al. (1995). Comparative analysis of native admissions and registrations to Northwestern Ontario treatment facilities: Hospital and community sectors. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 40, 467-473.

Denzin, N.(1997). Interpretive ethnography: *Ethnographic practices for the* 21st century. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Developing a New Mental Health Plan for British Columbia: Consultation Document, (1997) Adult Mental Health Division, Ministry of Health.

Dion Stout, M. (1997). Stopping family violence: Aboriginal communities enspirited. In J.R. Ponting, *First Nations in Canada: Perspectives on opportunity, empowerment, and self-determination* (pp. 273-298). Toronto: McGraw-Hill Ryerson Limited.

Dobbert, M.L. (1982). A specific basis for ethnography. In Ethnographic research: *Theory and application for modern schools and societies* (pp. 3-23). New York: Praeger.

Dow, J. (1986). Universal aspects of symbolic healing: A theoretical synthesis. *American Anthropologist*, 88, 56-69.

Dowd, T. & Eckermann, A. (1992). Cultural danger or cultural safety: Remote area health services. *The Australian Nurses Journal*, 21(6), 11-12.

Dugan, K.M. (1985). *The vision quest of the Plains Indians: Its spiritual significance*. Lewiston, NY: Edwin Mellin Press.

Duran, E. & Duran, B. (1995). *Native American postcolonial psychology.* Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

Durkheim, E. (1987/1951). Suicide: A study of sociology. Glencoe, Ill: Free Press.

Dyck, I. & Kearns, R. (1995). Transforming the relations of research: Towards culturally safe geographies of health and healing. *Health & Place*, 1 (3), 137-147.

Elias, J.W., & Greyeyes, D. (1999). Report on an environmental scan of mental health services in First Nations communities in Canada. Assembly of First Nations.

Elliott, S. & Foster, L. (1995). Mind-body-place: A geography of Aboriginal health in British Columbia. In P. Stephenson, S. Elliott, L. Foster & Harris, J. (eds.) *A persistent spirit: Towards understanding Aboriginal health in British Columbia* (pp. 94-127). Victoria, B.C.: University of Victoria Press.

Emerson, R.M, Fretz, R.I., & Shaw, L.L. (1995). Writing ethnographic field notes. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

Evans, R. (1993). Illness care, health, and the economic base. In *The Path to Healing:* Report of the National Round Table on Aboriginal Health and Social Issues – Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples (pp.264-272). Ottawa: Ministry of Supply and Services Canada.

Evans, R., Barer, M., & Marmor, T.R. (1994). Why are some people healthy and others not? The determinants of health of populations. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.

Evans, R.G. (1997). Health Reform: Who's selling the market, and why? *Journal of Public Health Medicine*, 19 (1), 45-49

Fahy, A., & Muschenheim, C. (1965). Third national conference on American Indian health, *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 194 (10), 1093-1096.

Fanon, F. (1968). Black skins, white masks. London: MacGibbon & Kee.

Fanon, F. (1968). The wretched of the earth. New York: Grove Press.

Fairclough, N. (1992). Discourse and social change. London: Polity.

Farrell Smith, J. (1996).Communicative ethics in medicine: The physician-patient relationship. In S. Wolf (ed.) *Feminism and bioethics: Beyond reproduction* (pp. 184-215). New York, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Feather, J., (1992). Promoting social health in Northern Saskatchewan. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 84 (4), 250-253.

Fernando, S. (1991). Mental health, race and culture. New York: St. Martin's Press.

Fiske, J. (1992). Carrier women and the politics of mothers. In G. Creese & V. Strong-Boag (Eds.), *British Columbia reconsidered: Essays on women*. Vanvouver: Press Gang Publishers.

Flew, A. (Ed.). (1979). *A dictionary of philosophy* (rev. 2nd ed.). New York: St. Martin's Press.

Fleras, A. & Elliott J. L. (1992). *The nations within: Aboriginal-state relations in Canada*, the United States and New Zealand. Ontario, Canada: Oxford Press.

Foster, L.T., MacDonald, J., Tuk, T.A., Uh, S.H., & Talbot, D. (1995). Native health in British Columbia. In P. Stephenson, S. Elliott, L. Foster & Harris, J. (eds.) *A persistent spirit: Towards understanding Aboriginal health in British Columbia* (pp. 41-93). Victoria, B.C.: University of Victoria Press.

Foucault, M. (1994). The birth of the clinic: An archeology of medical perception. New York: Vintage Books.

Fox, J., Manitowabi, D., & Ward, J.A. (1984). 'An Indian community with a high sucide rate – 5 years after'. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 29, 425-427.

Frideres, J. (1998). *Aboriginal peoples in Canada* (5th edition). Scarborough, Ontario, Canada: Prentice-Hall Canada Inc.

Fritz, W., & D'Arcy, C. (1982). Comparisons: Indian and non-Indian use of psychiatric services. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 27, 194-203.

Garro, L.C. (1990). Continuity and Change: The interpretation of illness in an Anishinaabe (Ojibway) community. *Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry*, 14, 417-454.

Geertz, C. (1973). The interpretation of cultures. USA: Basic Books.

Geertz, C. (1988). *Works and lives: The anthropologist as author.* Cambridge: Polity Press.

Gehring, E. (1973). Anthropology and education. In J. Honigman (Ed.), *Handbook of social and cultural anthropology*. Chicago: Rand McNally.

George, P. & Nahwegahbow, B. (1993). Anishnawbe Health. In *The Path to Healing:* Report of the National Round Table on Aboriginal Health and Social Issues (pp. 241-243). Ottawa: Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples.

Germain, C. (1993). Ethnography: The method. In P.L. Munhall & C Oiler Boyd (Eds.), *Nursing research: A qualitative perspective* (2nd ed., pp. 237-267). New York: National League for Nursing Press.

Gladstone, D. (1994). Heiltsuk Wellness Project: Five Year Plan

Goldswain, S. (1997). A narrative examination of the governing scripts in the dreams and early recollections of women with eating disorders. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, B.C.

Good, B. (1996). Culture and DSM-IV: Diagnosis, knowledge and power. *Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry*, 20, 127-132.

Guba, E.G., & Lincoln, Y.S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp.105-117). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Hahn, R.A. (1995). *Sickness and healing: An anthropological perspective*. London: New Haven: University Press. (Chapter 3: Three theories of sickness and healing).

Haig-Brown, C. (1992). Choosing border work. *Canadian Journal of Native Education*, 19 (1), 96-116.

Hall, J., Stevens, P., & Meleis, A. (1994). Marginalization: A guiding concept for valuing diversity in nursing knowledge development. *Advances in Nursing Science*, 16 (4), 23-41.

Hall, S. (1997) Representation: Cultural representations and signifying practices. London: Sage.

Hammersley, M. (1992). What's wrong with ethnography. London: Routledge.

Harper, Elijah. (1994). Foreword. In J. H. Hylton (ed.) *Aboriginal self-government in Canada* (pp. 7-8). Saskatoon, Saskatchewan: Purlich Publishing.

Health and Welfare Canada. (1991). Health status of Canadian Indians and Inuit: 1990. Ottawa, Ontario: Minister of Supply and Services. Heiltsuk Cultural Education Centre (1998). Information on the Bella Bella Heiltsuk.

Hebdige, D. (1979). Subculture: The meaning of style. London, Englan: Methuen.

Heiltsuk Health Centre (2000). Questionnaire Results and Recommendation.

Hepburn, S.J. (1988). Western minds, foreign bodies. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly*, 2, 59-74.

Hodgson, J., & Kothare, J. (1990). *Native spirituality and the church in Canada*. Toronto: Anglican Book Centre.

Holt, J.D. (January, 1993) . "How About Evaluation...A Handbook About Project Self Evaluation for First Nations and Inuit Communities" Humanite Services Planning (B.C.) Ltd. For the Department of National Health and Welfare, Medical Services Branch, Mental Health Advisory Services.

Interim Guidelines, Medical Service Branch, *Pacific Region: Mental Health Crisis Intervention*.

Jilek, W.G. & Todd, N.(1974). Witchdoctors succeed where doctors fail: Psychotherapy among Coast Salish Indians. *Canadian Psychiatric Association Journal*, 19, 351-355.

Johnson, J. & Johnson, F. (1993). Community development sobriety and after-care in Alkali Lake band. In *The Path to Healing: Report of the National Round Table on Aboriginal Health and Social Issues* (pp. 227-230). Ottawa: Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples.

Jorgenson, L. (1999) Qqs (Eyes) Kvai (Koeye) River Camp, Summer 1999. Report.

Jorgenson, L. & Smye, V. (2000). *Working Towards an Integrated Central Coast Mental Wellness Plan.* Central Coast Transitional Health Authority (funded by the Central Coast Services Society): Waglisla, B.C.

Jodoin, N. (February, 1997). "Literature Review on the essential components of a mental health program for Native communities".

Kaufert, J. & O'Neil, J. (1998). Culture, power and informed consent: The impact of Aboriginal health interpreters on decision-making. In D.Coburn, C.D'Arcy, & G.M.Torrance (eds). *Health and Canadian society: Sociological Perspectives* (3rd.ed.) (pp. 131-146). Toronto, Ontario: University of Toronto Press.

Kearns, R., & Dyck, I. (1996). Cultural safety, biculturalism and nursing education in Aotearoa/New Zealand. Health and Social Care in Community, 4 (6), 371-374.

Keltner, B.R. (1993). Native American children and adolescents: Cultural distinctiveness and mental health needs. *Journal of Canadian Preventive Nursing*, 6 (4), 18-23.

Kelm, Mary-Ellen. (1998). *Colonizing bodies: Aboriginal health and healing in British Columbia*. Vancouver, B.C.: UBC Press.

Kendall, Judy. (1992). Fighting back: Promoting emancipatory nursing actions. *Advanced Nursing Science*, 15 (2), 1-15.

Kilshaw, M. (1999). Aboriginal people - access to health services. *B.C. Medical Journal*, 41 (11), 555-559.

Kirmayer, L. (1993). Healing and the invention of metaphor: The effectiveness of symbols revisited. *Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry*, 17. 161-195.

Kirmayer, L. (1994). Suicide among Canadian Aboriginal Peoples. *Transcultural Psychiatric Review*, 31 (1), 3-53.

Kleinman, A. (1988). Rethinking psychiatry: *From cultural category to personal experience*. New York: The Free Press.

Lather, P. (1991). *Getting smart: Feminist research and pedagogy with/in the postmodern.* New York & London: Routledge.

Lather, P. (1991). *Getting smart: Feminist research and a pedagogy with/in the postmodern*. New York & London: Routledge.

LaRocque, E. (1993). Violence in Aboriginal communities. In The Path to Healing: Report of the National Round Table on Aboriginal Health and Social Issues (pp.). Ottawa: Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples.

LaRocque, E. (1996). The colonization of a Native woman scholar. In C. Miller & P. Chuchryk (eds.) *Women of the First Nations: Power, wisdom and strength* (pp. 11-18). Winnipeg, Manitoba, University of Manitoba Press.

Lazlo, E. (1972). *Introduction to systems philosophy*. London: Gordon and Breach, cited by Capra (1982).

Levi-Strauss, C. (1978). Myth and meaning. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Lock, M. (1993). "Education and self reflection: Teaching about culture, health and illness". In R. Masi, L. Mensah & K. Mcleod (eds.) *Health and cultures* (pp. 139-158). Oakville: Mosaic Press.

Lynam, J. & Young, R. (2000). Towards the creation of a culturally safe research environment. *Health*, 4 (1), 5-23.

MacMillan, H.L., (1996). Aboriginal health. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 155, 1569-1578.

Marcus, G.E. (1994). What comes (just) after "Post": The case of ethnography. In N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 563-574). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Maslove, A.M., & Dittburner. (1994). The financing of Aboriginal self-government. In J. H. Hylton (ed.) *Aboriginal self-government in Canada* (pp. 145-162). Saskatoon, Saskatchewan: Purlich Publishing.

McConaghy, C. (1997). What constitutes today's colonialism?: Reconsidering cultural relevance and mainstream in indigenous social and educational policy. *In Reading 4*, *UNE Armidale Department of Educational Studies* (pp. 77-89). Australia.

McConaghy, C. (1998a). Disrupting reproductive and erasive pedagogies: educational policy process in post colonial Australia. *Discourse: studies in the cultural politics of education*, 19 (3), 341-354.

McConaghy, C. (1998b). *Indigenous teacher education*. Paper presented at the AARE Confernce, Adelaide University, December 1998. A version of this paper is also appearing as Positioned Leadership: Education and the Politics of Location in Rural and Remote Postcolonial Australia, in L.C. Ehrich and J. Knight (eds.) forthcoming, Leadership in Crisis? Post Pressed, Brisbane.

McCormick, R.M. (1995). The facilitation of healing for the First Nations people of British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Native Education*, 21 (2), 251-319.

McCormick, R. (1996). Culturally appropriate means and ends of counselling as described by the First Nations people of British Columbia. *International Journal for Advancement of Counselling*, 18, 163-172.

McCormick, R.M. (19?). The integration of healing wisdom: The Vision Quest Ceremony from an Attachment theory perspective. (G&C).

McCormick, R.M. (1997). Healing through interdependence: The role of connecting in First Nations healing practices. *Canadian Journal of Counselling*, *31* (3), 172-186.

McCormick, R.M. (1998). Ethical considerations in First Nations counselling and research, *Canadian Journal of Counselling*, *32 (4)*, 284-297.

McDonald, M. (1999). Health, health care, and culture: Diverse meanings, shared agendas. In H. Coward and P. Ratanakul (eds.) *A cross-cultural dialogue on health care ethics* (pp. 92-112). Waterloo, Ontario, Canada: Wilfred Laurier University Press.

Mereau-Pont, Y. M. (1962) *The phenomenology of perception* (C. Smith, Trans.). New York: Humanities Press.

Mheccu (2000). Report on Best Practices in Mental Health: Assertive Community Treatment. Adult Mental Health, B.C. Ministry of Health.

Mheccu (2000). Report on Best Practices in Mental Health: Housing. Adult Mental Health, B.C. Ministry of Health.

Mheccu (2000). *Draft Reports on Best Practices in Mental Health in B.C.* Adult Mental Health Division, Ministry of Health.

Mheccu. (2001). Severe anxiety disorders. Mheccu Bulletin Policy Series, January (1).

Miller, J.R. (1989). Skyscrapers hide the heavens: A history of Indian-White relations in Canada. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.Denzin, N. (1994). The art and politics of interpretation. In N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), Handbook of qualitative research (pp. 500-515). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Mills, S. (1997). Discourse. London: Routledge.

Ministry of Health, British Columbia. (1986). *New Directions for a Healthy British Columbia*. (1986). Victoria, B.C.: Author

Mishler, E.G. (1986). *Research Interviewing: Context and narrative*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Moerman, D. (1979) Anthropology of symbolic healing. *Current Anthropology*, 20 (10), 59-66.Kincheloe, J.L. & McLaren, P.L. (1994). Rethinking critical theory and qualitative research. In N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 138-157).Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Moore, M., Forbes, H., & Henderson, L. (1990). The provision of primary health care services under band control: The Montreal Lake case. *Native Studies Review*, 6 (1), 153-164.

Morse, J., McConnell, R., Young, D. (1988). Documenting the practice of a Traditional Healer: Methodological problems and issues. In D. Young (ed.) *Health care issues in the Canadian north* (pp. 89-94) Alberta: Boreal Institute for Northern Studies.

Morse, J., Young, D., & Swartz, L. (1991). Cree Indian healing practices and Western health care: A comparative analysis. *Social Science Medicine*, 32 (12), 1361-1366.

Morse, J.M. (1994a). 'Emerging from the data': The cognitive process of analysis in qualitative inquiry. In J.M. Morse (Ed.), *Critical issues in qualitative research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Morse, J.M. (1994). Designing funded qualitative research. In N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 220-235). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Munhall. P. (1993). Epistemology in nursing. In P.L. Munhall & C Oiler Boyd (Eds.), *Nursing research: A qualitative perspective* (2nd ed., pp.39-65). New York: National League for Nursing Press.

Mussell, B., Nicholls, W.M., Adler, M. T. (1993a). *Making meaning of mental health: Challenges in First Nations* (A Freirian Perspective). Sal'i'shan Institute Society.

Mussell, W. (1993b). Deficits, foundation, and aspirations signal need for restructuring. In The Path to Healing: Report of the National Round Table on Aboriginal Health and Social Issues — Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples (pp.108-119). Ottawa: Ministry of Supply and Services Canada.

Mussell, B. (1994). Highest goals and standards for quality programs and services: A framework for community building. Aboriginal Standards Committee: Family Violence and Sexual Abuse Workers. Funded by Inter-Ministry Sexual Abuse Intervention Program through contact with Child and Youth Mental Health Services, B.C. Ministry of Health.

National Forum on Health. (1997). Canada health action: Building on the legacy. Ottawa, Canada: National Forum on Health.

Nelson, S.H., & McCoy, G.F. (1992). An overview of mental health services for American Indians and Alaskan Natives in the 1990's. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*, 43 (3), 257-61.

Oakley, A. (1981). Interviewing women: A contradiction in terms. In H. Robert (Ed.), *Doing feminist research* (pp. 30-59). London: Routledge.

Oiler Boyd, C. (1993). Toward a nursing practice research method. *Advanced Nursing Science*, 16 (2), 9-25.

Omery, A. (1988). Ethnography. In B. Sarter (Ed.), *Paths to knowledge: Innovative research methods for nursing* (pp. 17-31). New York: National League for Nursing.

O'Neil, J. (1986). The politics of health in the fourth world: A northern Canadian example. *Human Organization*, 45 (2), 119-128.

O'Neil, J.D. (1989) The cultural and political context of patient dissatisfaction in cross-cultural clinical encounters: A Canadian Inuit study. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly*, 3 (4), 325-344.

O'Neil, J.D. (1993a). Aboriginal health policy for the next century. In The Path to Healing: Report of the National Round Table on Aboriginal Health and Social Issues (pp. 27-48). Ottawa: Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples.

O'Neil, J.D. (1993b). Report from the round table rapporteur. In *The Path to Healing:* Report of the National Round Table on Aboriginal Health and Social Issues (pp. 13-24). Ottawa: Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples.

O'Neil, J.D. & Postl, B. (1994). Community healing and Aboriginal self-government: Is the circle closing? In J. H. Hylton (ed.) *Aboriginal self-government in Canada* (pp. 67-89). Saskatoon, Saskatchewan: Purlich Publishing.

O'Neil, J.D., Reading, J.R., & Leader, A. (1998a). Changing the relations of surveillance: The development of a discourse of resistance in Aboriginal epidemiology. *Human Organization*, 57 (2), 230-237.

O'Neil, J.D., Elias, B., & Yassi, A. (1998b). Situating resistance in fields of resistance: Aboriginal women and environmentalism. In M. Lock & P. Kaufert (eds.) *Pragmatic women and body politics*. Cambridge: University Press.

O'Neil, J.D., Lemchuk-Favel, L., Allard, Y., & Postl, B. (1999). Community healing and Aboriginal self-government. In J. Hylton (ed.) *Aboriginal self-government in Canada* nd ed.) (Chapter X). Saskatoon: Purich Publishing.

Polaschek, N.R. (1998). Cultural safety: A new concept in nursing people of different ethnicities. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 27, 452-457.

Polkingthorne, D.E. (1988). *Narrative knowing and the human sciences*. Albany, N.Y. State University of New York Press

Ponting, J.R. (1997). First Nations in Canada: perspectives on opportunity, empowerment, and self-determination. Toronto: McGraw-Hill Ryerson Limited.

Postl, B et al. (1990) Circumpolar Health 90: Proceedings of the 8th International Congress on Circumpolar Health, Whitehorse, Yukon. Winnipeg: University of Manitoba Press

Ramsden, I. (1993). Kawa Whakaruruhau. Cultural safety in nursing education in Aotearoa (New Zealand). Nursing Praxis in New Zealand. 8(3), 4-10.

Ramsden, I., & Spoonley,P. (1993). The cultural safety debate in nursing education in Aotearoa. New Zealand Annual Review of Education, 3, 161-174.

Read, Simon (1995). Issues in health management promoting First Nations wellness in times of change. In P. Stephenson, S. Elliott, L. Foster & Harris, J. (eds.) *A persistent spirit: Towards understanding Aboriginal health in British Columbia* (pp. 297-330). Victoria, B.C.: University of Victoria Press.

Reimer Kirkham, S., Smye, V., Tang, S., Anderson, J., Blue, C., Coles, R., Henderson, A., Lynam, J., Perry, J., Shapero, L., Semeniuk, P. (1999). Waiting for the field: Rethinking cultural safety. *Health* (under review).

Reimer Kirkham, S. (2000). "Making sense of difference": The social organization of intergroup relations in health care provision. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada.

Report on the Health of British Columbians (1996). *Medical Journal*. Province of British Columbia. Provincial Health Officer's Annual Report.

Report of the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1993). *Ethical guidelines for research*. Ottawa, Canada: Ministry of Supply and Services.

Report of the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. (1995). *Choosing life:* Special report on suicide among Aboriginal people. Ottawa, Canada: Ministry of Supply and Services.

Report of the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples, (1996a). *Volume 4: Perspectives and Realities.* Canadian Cataloguing in Publication Data: Ottawa, Canada.

Report of the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples, (1996b). *Volume 3: Gathering strength*. Ottawa, Canada: Ministry of Supply and Services.

R.R.B.C. (1998). The 1998 Mental Health Plan, 'Revitalizing and Rebalancing British Columbia's Mental Health System'. Victoria, B.C.: Adult Mental Health Division, Ministry of Health.

Rodney, P. (1997). *Towards connectedness and trust: Nurses enactment of their moral agency within an organizational context.* Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada.

Said, E. (1978). Orientalism. New York: Random House.

Sampath, H.A. (1974). Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in a southern Baffin Island Eskimo settlement. Canadian Psychiatric Association Journal, 19, 363-367.

Sandelowski, M. (1993). Rigor or rigor mortis: The problem of rigor in qualitative research revisited. *Advanced Nursing Science*, 16 (2), 1-8.

Sandelowski, M. (1995a.). Qualitative analysis: What it is and how to begin. *Research* in Nursing and Health, 18, 371-375.

Sandelowski, M. (1995b.). On the aesthetics of qualitative research. *Image: Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 27 (3), 205-209.

Sherwin, S. (1992). *No longer patient: Feminist ethics and health care.* Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Smith, D. E. (1987). *The everyday world as problematic: A feminist sociology.* Toronto, Canada: University of Toronto Press.

Smith, D. (1992). Sociology from women's perspectives: A reaffirmation. *Sociology Theory*, 10, 88-97.

Smye, V. (2000). *Aboriginal constructions of mental health within the context of Mental Health Reform in B.C.* Unpublished dissertation proposal.

Statistics Canada. (1993). The Daily. Ottawa, Ontario: Statistics Canada, September 20.

Stephenson, P. (1999) Expanding notions of culture for cross-cultural ethics in health and medicine. In H. Coward and P. Ratanakul (eds.) *A cross-cultural dialogue on health care ethics* (pp. 68-89). Waterloo, Ontario, Canada: Wilfred Laurier University Press.

Stevens, P. (1989). A critical social reconceptualization of environment in nursing: Implications for methodology. *Advances in Nursing Science*, 11 (4), 56-68.

Sue, D.W. (1981). *Counselling the culturally different: Theory and practice.* Toronto: John Wiley & Sons.

Swinomish Tribal Mental Health Project, *A gathering of Wisdoms Tribal Mental Health: A Cultural Perspective*. La Conner Washington, 1989.

Thorne, S. (1991). Methodological orthodoxy in qualitative nursing reserch: Analysis of the Issues. *Qualitative Health Research*, 1 (2), 178-199.

Thorne, S. (1993). Health beliefs in perspective. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 18, 1931-1941.

Trimble, J.E., & Fleming, C.M. (1990). Providing counselling services for Native American Indians: Client, counsellor, and community characteristics. In P.B. Pederson, J.G Draguns, W.J. Lonner, & J.E. Trimble (Eds.), *Counselling across cultures* (3rd. edition) (pp. 177-204). Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press.

Turpel, M.E. (1989). Aboriginal peoples and the Canadian Charter of rights and freedoms: Contradictions and challenges. *Canadian Woman Studies*, 10 (2&3), 149-157.

Vancouver/ Richmond Health Board (1999). Healing Ways: Aboriginal Health and Service Review. Vancouver: Author.

van Manen, M. (1997). Researching lived experience: Human science for an action sensitive pedagogy (2nd Ed.). London, Ontario: The Althouse Press.

VanUchelen, c., Davidson, S., Quressette, S., Brasfield, C., & Demerais, L. (1997). What makes us strong: Urban Aboriginal perspectives on wellness and strength. Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health, 16 (2), 37-50.

Vecsey, C. (1983). *Traditional Ojibwa religion and its historical changes*. Philadelphia: The American Philosophical Society.

Vidich, A.J., & Lyman, S.M. (1994). Qualitative methods: Their history in sociology and anthropology. In N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp.23-59). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Wade, A. (1995). Resistant knowledges: Therapy with Aboriginal persons who have experienced violence. In P. Stephenson, S. Elliott, L. Foster & Harris, J. (eds.) A persistent spirit: Towards understanding Aboriginal health in British Columbia (pp. 167-206). Victoria, B.C.: University of Victoria Press.

Waldram. J. (1997). *The way of the pipe: Aboriginal spirituality and symbolic healing in Canadian prisons*. Peterborough, Ontario, Canada: Broadview Press.

Waldram, J., Herring, A., Kue Young, T. (1995). *Aboriginal health in Canada: Historical, cultural and epidemiological perspectives*. Toronto, Buffalo, London: University of Toronto Press.

Warry, W. (1990). Doing unto others: Applied anthropology and Native self-determination. *Culture*, 10, 61-73.

Warry, W. (1998). Unfinished dreams: Community healing and the reality of self-government. Toronto, Buffalo, London: University of Toronto Press.

Waterfall, P., Joseph, R., & Van Uchelen, C. (1994). Heiltsuk wellness: A shared vision. Vancouver: Heiltsuk Tribal Council, Native Brotherhood of British Columbia, CUPPL, Department of Psychiatry, UBC.

Westermeyer, J., & Neider, J. (1984). Predicting treatment outcome after ten years among American Indian alcoholics. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 8 (2), 179-184.

Wolfe, M. (1992). A thrice-told tale: Feminism, postmodernism, and ethnographic responsibility. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Wood, P. & Schwass, M. (1993). Cultural safety: A framework for changing attitudes. Nursing Praxis, 8 (1), 4-15.

World Health Organization, Health and Welfare Canada, & Canadian Public Health Association. (1986). Ottawa Charter for health promotion. Ottawa: Author

World Health Organizaton. (1978). Primary health care: Report of the International Conference on Primary Health Care, Alma-Ata, USSR, 6-12 September, 1978. Geneva: world Health Organization.

World Health Organization. (1984). *Health promotion: A discussion document* on the concept and principles. Geneva: Author

World Health Organization (1994).

York, G. 1990. The dispossessed: Life and death in Native Canada. U.K.: Vantage

Young, D., Morse, J., Swartz, L., & Ingram, G. (1988). The Psoriasis Research Project: An Overview. In D. Young (ed.) *Health care issues in the Canadian north* (pp. 76-87) Alberta: Boreal Institute for Northern Studies.

Young, D. (1989). *Cry of the eagle*. Toronto; Buffalo; London: University of Toronto Press.

Young, I. (1990). *Justice and the politics of difference*. Princeton & New Jersey: Princeton University Press.

Young, T.K. (1984). Indian health services in Canada: A socio-historical perspective. *Social Science and Medicine*, 18 (3), 257-264.

Young, T.K. (1994). The health of Native Americans. New York: Oxford University Press.

